

18th ANNUAL RESEARCH WORKSHOP

Round Potato Production in Southern Highlands of Tanzania: Are Smallholder Farmers Becoming Commercial?

by

Hosea Mpogole, Melchior E. Mlambiti and Reuben M.J. Kadigi

Final Draft Report

GD4

Presented at REPOA's 18th Annual Research Workshop held at the Kunduchi Beach Hotel, Dar es Salaam, Tanzania; April 3-4, 2013

REPOA funded this research project as a part of our capacity building programme for researchers. This preliminary material / interim, or draft research report is being disseminated to encourage discussion and critical comment amongst the participants of REPOA's Annual Research Workshop. It is not for general distribution.

This paper is based on REPOA-funded study that resulted in a PhD thesis and published referred journal: Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development Vol. 4(14), pp. 385-391, 8 August, 2012, Available online at http://academicjournals.org/JAERD, DOI: 10.5897/JAERD12.067, ISSN 2141-2154 ©2012 Academic Journals.

Round Potato Production in Southern Highlands of Tanzania: Are Smallholder Farmers Becoming Commercial? by Hosea Mpogole¹, Melchior E. Mlambiti and Reuben M. J. Kadigi

ABSTRACT

The subsistence production is chosen by farmers because it is subjectively the best option. However, subsistence farming on small and fragmented plots risks not reaching even farmers' own food requirements, let alone producing a surplus. Therefore, it would have been expected that farmers would be commercialising production of profitable food crops. One of the more profitable food crops than many others as studies show is round potato (Solanum tuberosum). Nonetheless, the extent to which farmers have commercialised round potato production was not known. This study was then undertaken to fill this knowledge gap by analysing the proportion of land allotted to round potato production and the extent to which the crop was oriented towards the market by using the commercialisation index. A sample of 510 farmers was visited from three districts of the southern highlands of Tanzania. Results showed that round potato production was highly commercialised. This was evidence by the proportion of land that was allotted for round potato cultivation and the commercialisation index. About 20 to 67% of the total land under cultivation was allotted to round potato production and about 88% of the produce was sold. However, both the cultivated land and output per capita were small.

Key words: Commercialisation, commercialisation index, Irish potato, market based production, subsistence, subsistence farming.

This paper is based on REPOA-funded study that resulted in a PhD thesis and published referred journal: Journal of Agricultural Extension and Rural Development Vol. 4(14), pp. 385-391, 8 August, 2012, Available online at http:// academicjournals.org/JAERD, DOI: 10.5897/JAERD12.067, ISSN 2141-2154 ©2012 Academic Journals.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Research on Poverty Alleviation (REPOA) and Iringa University College for funding this study. We thank Dr. Mishili and Prof. Hella of the Department of Agricultural Economics and Agribusiness at Sokoine University of Agriculture for their initial ideas about the possibility of conducting this study. Finally, authors would like to thank Mr. Fidelis Mawona, Mr. Geofrey Matata, and other research assistants for their help in data collection.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTR	ACT	I
ACKNO	OWLEDGMENTS	II
LIST O	F TABLES	IV
1.0	INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	STUDY AREA	2
2.0	METHODOLOGY	3
2.1 2.2	Sampling and Data Collection	
3.0	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	5
3.1 3.2 3.3	DESCRIPTION OF ROUND POTATO FARMERS VISITEDCULTIVATED LAND AND THE PROPORTION FOR ROUND POTATO PRODUCTION COMMERCIALISATION INDEX	6
4.0	CONCLUSION	10
REFER	ENCES	11

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1:	Characteristics of round potato farmers visited	6
Table 2:	Acreage allocation for round potato and maize	7
Table 3:	Commercialisation index (CI)	8

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Over the past years, subsistence farming has neither improved the livelihoods of the rural population nor guaranteed food security. As a result, smallholder agricultural production has become a policy priority for the United Republic of Tanzania, which seeks to commercialise it (URT, 1997, 2008). Commercialisation of agricultural production in situation where the majority of farmers are engaged in food crops means making these crops profitable (Wolter, 2008). Food crops on which the government has focused include the major staples namely, maize and rice, for which there are restrictions on sales and export (Gabagambi, 2009). While such restrictions lower the prospect of maize and rice as commercial engagement, opportunities do exist in other sub-staples, such as round potato (*Solanum tuberosum*) in areas of favourable climatic conditions (Kelly, 2006).

Studies on round potato have shown that production and consumption of the crop is increasingly becoming popular (Anderson, 1996, 2008; Kabungo, 2008; Koizumi, 2007; Namwata et al., 2010). The potato has great potential in both national and regional markets, due to growing demand for chips and snacks/crisps (Anderson, 2008). This growth in demand can be traced to many factors, including increasing economic activities, urbanisation, tourism, and changing lifestyles, all of which are shifting consumer food preferences towards easy to cook and processed foods (Anderson, 2008; CIP, 2008; FAOSTAT, 2008).

Apart from the fact that round potato is easy to cook and to process, as studies have shown, it produces remarkable quantities of calories comparable to cereal crops (Blanken et al., 1994; Scott et al., 2000). This means that round potato can address both food security as well as profit. Indeed, as existing data show, this round potato is more profitable than traditional staples, as it has higher yield per unit of land, matures earlier, and provides a larger income (Blanken et al., 1994; CIP, 2008; Goossens, 2002; Namwata et al., 2010; UARC, 1990). The maturity period of round potato is about three months as compared to maize (the major staple in Tanzania), which takes about eight to ten months to be ready for harvest (UARC, 1990). Also, one acre of round potato produces up to 120 (100kg) bags versus about 20 bags of maize. Also, prices per unit are comparable though often round potato sales higher than maize (BOT, 2010; UARC, 1990). For the round potato, these data show that it is a good income earner, and because of its potentiality, the crop is considered to be a hidden treasure for smallholder farmers (Blanken et al., 1994; CIP, 2008).

Given the prospect and from economic point of view smallholder farmers would have been expected to commercialise the crop by allotting more acreage to it and sell a bigger part of the produce than they keep for home consumption (Nyikai, 2003; Pingali et al., 2005; Rudra, 1983; Sokoni, 2008; von Braun and Kennedy, 1994).

However, the extent to which farmers in the southern highlands of Tanzania (SHT) have commercialised their round potato production was not known. This study was then undertaken to fill this knowledge gap by analysing the proportion of land allotted to round potato production and the extent to which round potato production was oriented towards the market by using the commercialisation index (CI).

The study has both descriptive and normative aims. Firstly, it is aimed at increasing knowledge on the commercial orientation of smallholder farmers. The prospect here is often overlooked, because subsistence farming on small and fragmented plots generally risks not reaching even farmers' own food requirements, let alone producing a surplus. Secondly, this study is aimed to show policymakers and stakeholders in agriculture who can develop policies and strategies to help smallholder farmers with the commercialisation process. Commercialisation of smallholder production is essential in improving the income and livelihoods of these farmers and assuring their food security (Ahmed, 1994; Blanken et al., 1994; Nyikai, 2003; OECD, 2008; Sokoni, 2008; von Braun and Kennedy, 1994). It is not the aim of this study to provide a normative formula to help subsistence farmers commercialise, but rather to develop a deepest understanding of their commercial orientation.

1.1 Study Area

This study was conducted in Njombe, Mbeya rural and Nkasi districts in Iringa, Mbeya, and Rukwa regions, respectively. These three districts are all found in the southern highlands of Tanzania. Njombe and Mbeya Rural Districts were purposively selected because they were the leading producers of round potato in their respective regions (URT, 2007), and the characteristics of their farmers and farming practices differ. Njombe produces predominantly one variety of round potato, which is *Kikondo*. Mbeya rural produces a number of varieties including *Kikondo*, *Arka*, *Kidinya*, *Kagiri*, and *Tigoni*. Also, Mbeya rural is wet almost throughout the year making it possible to cultivate round potato more than once, while this is not the case in Njombe.

Njombe and Mbeya Rural districts are within or close to better transport networks than Nkasi district. They have more access to input and output markets as well as to extension services than Nkasi district. Although farmers in Nkasi produce only small quantities of round potato, the District was taken for comparison purposes because this makes it possible to compare levels of commercialisation in areas with high potential (in terms of access to input and output markets) with low potential areas.

2.0 METHODOLOGY

2.1 Sampling and Data Collection

A pilot survey to test data collection instruments and to gain familiarisation with the study areas was conducted in two villages, one in Njombe District and another in Mbeya Rural District. The main survey was conducted in two seasons from March 2010 to June 2011. Data was collected from 15 villages, which were purposively selected based on the volume of production of round potato. In those villages, respondents were obtained from farmers' meetings called by village executive officers (VEOs). The VEOs were informed at least a day prior to the visit of our request that they call for round potato farmers' meeting on the day of the visit. In total, 510 farmers were included in this study. However, the proportion of women who showed up to the meetings was relatively small. This phenomenon is not uncommon for it has been well documented that the gender division of labour which allocates all childcare, household activities, and water and wood carrying to women constraints their capacity to participate in the market based production irrespective of opportunities (Ellis, 1988; Kaaria et al., 2007; World Bank, 2009).

Data was then collected on general characteristics of round potato farmers, varieties of round potato produced, land ownership, relative acreage allotted to round potato production, reasons for acreage allocation to various crops, input use, output per acre, volume sold, volume consumed and/or stored, and average selling price.

2.2 Analytical Technique

Commercialisation of subsistence agriculture can take place on the output side as well as on the input side (von Braun and Kennedy, 1994). On the output side of production, commercialisation is manifested by the increased marketed surplus while on the input side it is shown by the increased use of purchased inputs. This study assessed the commercialisation of round potato production from the output side. According to von Braun and Kennedy (1994), commercialisation on the output side is defined as in Equation (1):

$$Commercialisation of agriculture = \frac{Value \, of \, agricultural \, sales \, in \, markets}{Agricultural \, production \, value} \tag{1}$$

The Commercialisation Index (CI) was used to determine the extent of commercialisation of round potato production. Deriving from Bekele et al. (2011), Strasberg et al. (1999), and von Braun and Kennedy (1994) the commercialisation index (CI) for round potato production can be defined as:

$$CI = \frac{Gross\ value\ of\ all\ round\ potato\ sales}{Gross\ value\ of\ all\ round\ potato\ production} \times 100\% \tag{2}$$

Commercialisation index measures the extent to which round potato production is oriented toward the market, so a value of zero would signify a totally subsistence-oriented farmer while the closer the index is to 100%, the higher the degree of market orientation (Strasberg et al., 1999). Since CI depends on the output *Y*, and assuming that farmers consume a fixed amount, *c*, of round potato, then:

$$CI = \frac{Y - c}{Y} \times 100\% \tag{3}$$

This assumption is realistic since farmers' consumption of a particular food crop cannot increase indefinitely with increasing production, for instance if a farmer or rather a household consumes an amount equal to c, then any excess above c should be sold. The relationship in Equation (3) is desirable since the higher the production (Y) the higher the CI, that is:

$$\lim_{Y \to \infty} (CI) = 100\% \lim_{Y \to \infty} \left(\frac{Y - c}{Y} \right) = 100\% \lim_{Y \to \infty} \left(\frac{1 - c}{Y} \right) = 100\%$$
 (4)

Equation (4) means that as Y becomes very large, relative to c, CI approaches 100%.

It is noteworthy that this study was descriptive in nature aiming at obtaining a general picture of the market orientation of round potato farmers by analysing the proportion of land allotted to round potato production and the commercialisation index.

3.0 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1 Description of Round Potato Farmers Visited

Results showed that the percentage of male respondents was 62, 79, and 67% in Njombe, Mbeya Rural, and Nkasi respectively (Table 1). On average, 69.6% of the all respondents were male while 30.4% were females. As aforementioned, more men showed up to the round potato farmers' meetings than women. However, statistics show that in Tanzania, female constitute about 51% of the total population. Thus, it can be inferred that the higher percentage of men in this study might be a reflection of the commercial nature of round potato production in the study areas. In this situation, it is likely that more men would be involved in it, leaving women with other food crops for home consumption and other household activities. It has widely been shown that in Africa, when a crop is perceived as commercial, men are more likely to take over from women (Kaaria et al., 2007; World Bank, 2009).

Majority of the respondents were in the 30 to 44 years age group (Table 1). This age group accounted for about 58% in Njombe and Nkasi districts and about 54% in Mbeya Rural district. Also, the 45 to 64 years age group accounted for about 31, 26, and 22% in Njombe, Mbeya Rural, and Nkasis districts respectively. The proportion of respondents in the 14 to 29 years group and the 65 years and above was relatively small. This result indicates that few youths, for example, primary and secondary school leavers were involved in round potato production. Quite often, age is used as an indicator of farming experience. This experience makes certain informational and search costs easier (Luh, 1995).

The survey results on the education level of respondents indicated that about 82, 85, and 92% of respondents from Njombe, Mbeya Rural, and Nkasi districts respectively had primary education (Table 9). Also, about 14, 5, and 4% of respondents from Njombe, Mbeya Rural, and Nkasi respectively had secondary education. The proportion of respondents with secondary education in Njombe was nearly 3 times those of Mbeya Rural or Nkasi but the trend is similar. Education level is said to affect market orientation and productivity. Other studies such as Hawassi (2006) and Nkumba (2007) find that educational level influences productivity and market access. It also influences the cost of information seeking and negotiating, and hence, market orientation (Asrat et al., 2009; Pingali et al., 2005; von Braun and Kennedy, 1994). Results on marital status showed that about 86% of respondents from Njombe district, 87% from Mbeya Rural district, and 96% from Nkasi district were married while the rest were living single, widowed or separated (Table 1). Also, marital status is said to influence farm practices (World Bank, 2009). For instance, Kilima et al. (2010) indicated that married household heads had significantly less maize area under improved technologies than single household heads.

Table 1: Characteristics of round potato farmers visited

Table 1. Charac		Njom		Mbeya l	Rural	Nkasi		
		Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	
Sex								
Female		64	37.6	35	20.6	56	32.9	
Male		106	62.4	135	79.4	114	67.1	
Total		170	100.0	170	100.0	170	100.0	
Age								
14-29 years		14	8.2	32	18.8	33	19.4	
30-44 years		99	58.2	91	53.5	98	57.6	
45-64 years		52	30.6	44	25.9	38	22.4	
65 years and ab	ove	5	2.9	3	1.8	1	.6	
Total		170	100.0	170	100.0	170	100.0	
Education level								
No formal educa	No formal education		3.5	13	7.6	6	3.5	
Primary education	on	139	81.8	145	85.3	157	92.4	
O-level education	secondary	24	14.1	9	5.3	7	4.1	
A-level education/certific	secondary cate	1	.6	3	1.8	0	0.0	
Total		170	100.0	170	100.0	170	100.0	
Marital status								
Married		146	85.9	148	87.1	157	92.4	
Single		7	4.1	9	5.3	6	3.5	
Separated/widov	wed	17	10.0	13	7.6	7	4.1	
Total		170	100.0	170	100.0	170	100.0	

3.2 Cultivated Land and the Proportion for Round Potato Production

The average land sizes under cultivation in the three districts were small (Table 2). In itself, this is unsurprising, given that it has often been reported that smallholder farmers in Tanzania farm on small and fragmented plots (Wolter, 2008; Sokoni, 2008). For instance, Wolter (2008) shows that land sizes for smallholder farmers in Tanzania range from about 2.0 to 7.5 acres (or about 0.9 to 3 hectares). What is surprising, however, is the proportion of land that is allotted to round potato production. This was 20% of the total land under cultivation in Nkasi, 42% in Njombe and 67% in Mbeya Rural.

Mbeya Rural had the highest proportion of land allotted to round potato production but its *per capita* land size was small. This was due to the fact that land in Mbeya Rural is characterised by mountain slopes and valleys, making producers farm on small and fragmented plots. Also, in this area, maize for instance, takes too long to be ready for harvest compared to Njombe and Nkasi districts. This makes round potato a potential crop around this area.

The proportion of land under round potato production at Nkasi was relatively small. This could be due to the remoteness of the district, as it is very far from potential market centres and has poor transport infrastructure. This gives farmers in this area impetus to produce more of maize than round potato because maize does not require heavy inputs as compared to round potato. Also, maize can be stored for a longer time compared to round potato, which is highly perishable.

Table 2: Acreage allocation for round potato and maize

District	Land description	Minimum	Maximum	Mean
Njombe	Total land under cultivation (acres)	1.00	13.00	4.71
	Proportion of land under cultivation (ratio of total)	.17	1.00	.82
	Land size under maize production (acres)	.50	6.00	2.17
	Land under round potato production (acres)	.25	7.00	1.99
	Land under round potato per total under cultivation (ratio)	.08	.67	.42
Mbeya Rural	Total land under cultivation (acres)	1.00	40.00	3.74
	Proportion of land under cultivation (ratio of total)	.13	1.00	.96
	Land size under maize production (acres)	.50	10.00	1.69
	Land under round potato production (acres)	.50	40.00	2.63
	Land under round potato per total under cultivation (ratio)	.10	1.00	.71
Nkasi	Total land under cultivation (acres)	3.00	21.00	7.08
	Proportion of land under cultivation (ratio of total)	.20	1.00	.71
	Land size under maize production (acres)	1.00	14.00	3.87
	Land under round potato production (acres)	.50	3.00	1.14
	Land under round potato per total under cultivation (ratio)	.03	.75	.20

From the commercial point of view, the average acreage under production was too small to provide any meaningful output for business purposes. However, in the theory of peasant economics, there appears to be an inverse relationship between farm size and productivity (Carter, 1984; Ellis, 1988). The gross output or income per unit of land for a small farm has been shown to be higher than that of a bigger farm. The farm size used in this context is, as defined by Ellis (1988), the strict area size of the farm (as opposed to farm scale which refers to the overall economic size of farms). The proposition that Ellis (1988) develops to explain this is that small farms generally make more efficient use of resources than large farms, an argument which is similar to Schumacher (1989), who also advocates for small farms.

Although, the total land sizes under cultivation were comparable to previous studies, the proportion of land devoted to round potato production in the current study was high especially in Njombe and Mbeya rural districts. This is so because the study locations are considered to be the major cereal producers in Tanzania (URT, 2006).

Hence, having between 20 and 67% of the land allotted for round potato production is by any means high. This high proportion of land allotted to round potato is consistent with our expectation that since the crop is more profitable than (for example) maize, which is popular in SHT, farmers would increasingly allocate more land to it. Therefore, this indicates a movement towards commercial round potato production, a conclusion that does not disregard the inverse relationship between farm size and productivity as discussed by Carter (1984) and Ellis (1988). However, our argument is that commercially-oriented farmers would allocate more acreage to a crop that, subject to probabilities, promises to yield higher profits.

3.3 Commercialisation Index

The findings showed that CI for round potato was 86% in Njombe, 88% in Nkasi and 91% in Mbeya rural (Table 3). On average 88% of all round potato produce was being sold. The remaining output was either consumed or stored as seed tubers for the following season. The CI of 88% found in this study is surprisingly high. According to Bekele et al. (2011) and Strasberg et al. (1999), a crop commercialisation index greater than 50% signifies a commercial oriented farmer for a crop under consideration. Since the commercialisation index for this study was about 88%, then round potato production was highly commercialised in the study areas. Since farmers in these areas did not grow a single crop, it is likely that they produced other crops for home consumption and the round potato for the market. Although no studies have assessed the commercialisation index of farmers in Tanzania, Nyikai (2003) argues that the majority of smallholder farmers in Sub-Saharan Africa are neither purely subsistence nor purely commercial. They are either semi-commercial or semi-subsistence. Some farmers usually produce certain crops for home consumption and some specific crops for sale (Bekele et al., 2011). In this case the commercial orientation of farmers should be measured with reference to a specific crop rather than the farmer in general.

Table 3: Commercialisation index (CI)

	Total output (100kg bags)		Amount consumed (100kg bags)		Amount stored (100kg bags)		Amount sold (100kg bags)		CI	
	Mea	Std dev	Mean	Std dev	Mean	Std dev	Mean	Std dev	Me an	Std dev
Njombe	91.4	84.0	0.5	1.2	10.6	10.7	80.6	79.1	0.8 64	0.1 35
Mbeya Rural	67.6	80.1	0.4	1.2	5.3	9.5	62.3	74.2	0.9 13	0.1 47
Nkasi	12.9	13.4	0.5	0.8	0.9	2.1	11.6	12.4	0.8 75	0.1 68
Total	57.1	74.8	0.5	1.1	5.5	9.2	51.3	69.2	0.8 84	0.1 52

Despite the fact that the commercialisation index was very high, the *per capita* output of round potato was very small. This is due to two main reasons. Firstly, the small and fragmented plots that farmers cultivated, and secondly, due to low productivity. Low productivity is a result of little or non-use of agricultural inputs. Therefore, given that only about 20% of all arable land is cultivated in Tanzania (URT, 2009), then opportunities exist in terms of land expansion by mechanisation and improved productivity. The current land holdings among famers are too small to provide for meaningful commercial outputs.

4.0 CONCLUSION

This study found that round potato production in southern highlands of Tanzania was highly commercialised. This was evidenced by the proportion of land that was allotted for round potato cultivation and the commercialisation index. About 20 to 67% of the total land under cultivation was allotted to round potato production and about 88% of the produce was sold. This implies that farmers produced round potato primarily for the market. However, both the cultivated land and the output per capita were very small. This calls for both land expansion and improved productivity. Since commercialisation of agriculture directly generates income, creates employment and increased agricultural labour productivity, recommendation for extension services that are directed towards training of rural farmers on the use of appropriate farm inputs, agronomic practices and access to markets is envisaged.

REFERENCES

- Ahmed R (1994). Investment in Rural Infrastructure: Critical for Commercialisation in Bangladesh. In: von Braun J and Kennedy E (eds) Agricultural Commercialisation, Economic Development, and Nutrition. Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London. pp.141-152.
- Anderson JA (1996). Potato cultivation in the Uporoto mountains, Tanzania: An analysis of social nature of agro-technological change. Afr. Affairs. 95: 85-106.
- Anderson PK (2008). A Global Perspective of Potato Production in Emerging Markets. International Potato Centre, SCRI, Dundee, Scotland. http://www.scri.ac.uk/scri/files/IIPP%20presentations/PamelaAnderson.pdf. Site visited on 23/11/2008.
- Asrat S, Yesuf M, Carlsson F, Wale E (2009). Farmers' Preferences for Crop Variety Traits: Lessons for on-farm conservation and technology adoption. Environment for Development, Discussion paper series, EfD DP 09-15.
- Bank of Tanzania (BOT) (2010). Monthly Economic Review. September 2010.
- Bekele A, Belay K, Legesse B, Lemma T (2011). Effects of crop commercial orientation on productivity of smallholder farmers in drought-prone areas of the central Rift Valley of Ethiopia. J. Rural Dev. 33(4): 105-128.
- Blanken J, von Braun J, De Haen H (1994). The triple role of potatoes as a source of cash, food, and employment: effects on nutritional improvement in Rwanda. In: von Braun J and Kennedy (eds) Agricultural Commercialization, Economic Development, and Nutrition. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London. pp.276-294.
- Carter MR (1984). Identification of the inverse relationship between farm size and productivity: an empirical analysis of peasant agricultural production. Oxford Econ. 36(1): 131-145.
- Centro Internacional de la Papa (CIP) (2008). 2008 The International Year of Potato.

 http://www.cipotato.org/pressroom/facts-figures/2008-international-year-of-t-he-potato.asp. Site visited on 1/5/2009.
- Ellis F (1988). Peasant Economics: Farm households and agrarian development. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, U.K. pp196-201.
- FAOSTAT (2008). Potato World: Production and Consumption. http://faostat.fao.org/default.aspx. Site visited on 1/5/2009.
- Gabagambi DM (2009). Towards a paradigm shift in revolutionalising Tanzania's agriculture. In: Batamuzi EK, Gimbi DM, Max RA, Nombo CI, Msoffe GE (eds) Research initiatives for improvement of livelihoods: Contribution of SUA and her partners. Proceedings of the Fourth Annual PANTIL Scientific Conference, Morogoro, Tanzania, October 19-21, 2009, pp.25-38.

- Goossens F (2002). Potato marketing in Rwanda: Agricultural Policy Development Project. Research Report No. 12. Abt Associates Inc., USAID/Rwanda.
- Hawassi FGH (2006). Analysis of Processing, Marketing and Demand for Processed Fruits and Vegetables in Tanzania. Unpublished Thesis for Award of PhD Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania.
- Kaaria S, Sanginga P, Njuki J, Delve R, Chitsike C, Best R (2007). Enabling rural innovation in Africa: An approach for empowering smallholder farmers to access market opportunities for improved livelihoods. [http://www.future-agricultures.org/farmerfirst. Site visited on 12/06/2009.
- Kabungo CD (2008). Evaluation of Irish Potato Production and Marketing Performance: A Case Study of Mbeya Rural District. MSc Dissertation, Sokoine University of Agriculture.
- Kelly T (2006). Tanzania Potato production. http://research.cip.cgiar.org/confluence/display/wpa/Tanzania. Site visited on 15/02/2009.
- Kilima FTM, Mbiha ER, Erbaugh JM, Larson DW (2010). Adoption of improved agricultural technologies by smallholder maize and sorghum farmers in Central Tanzania. Eastern and Southern Afr. J. Agric. Econ. Dev. 7: 24-54.
- Koizumi M (2007). Comparative study of farming systems in South-western Tanzania: Agrarian adaptation in a socio-historical perspective. Afr. Stud. Monogr. 34: 3-20.
- Luh Y (1995). Are Farmers Learning by Doing? Experience in Taiwan. Rev. Agric. Econ. 17(2): 213-227.
- Namwata BML, Lwelamira J, Mzirai OB (2010). Adoption of improved agricultural technologies for Irish potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum*) among farmers in Mbeya Rural district, Tanzania: A case of Ilungu ward. J. Anim. Plant Sci. 8(1): 927-935.
- Nkumba JM (2007). Assessing adoption and economic impacts of new banana varieties on livelihoods of farmers in Kagera region in Tanzania. Unpublished Thesis for Award of PhD Degree at Sokoine University of Agriculture, Morogoro, Tanzania.
- Nyikai RA (2003). Commercial and Subsistence Farming: What is the future for smallholder Kenyan agriculture? Afr. Crop Sci. Soc. 6: 591-596.
- Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (2008). Turning African Agriculture into a Business: Lessons Learnt. www.oecd.org/dataoecd/58/56/42987772.pdf. Site visited on 12/08/2010.
- Pingali P, Khwaja Y, Meijer M (2005).Commercialising Small Farms: Reducing Transaction Costs. In: The Future of Small Farms. Workshop Proceedings, IFPRI and Overseas Development Institute (ODI), Wye, UK, June 26-29, 2005, pp61-79.
- Rudra A (1983). Non-Maximising Behaviour of Farmers: Crop Selection. Econ. Polit. Weekl. 18(40): 1717-1722.

- Schumacher EF (1989). Small is beautiful: Economics as if people mattered. Harper Perennial, London. pp.155-169.
- Scott GJ, Rosegrant MW, Ringler C (2000). Roots and Tubers for the 21st Century: Trends, Projections, and Policy Options. Food, Agriculture, and the Environment Discussion Paper 31, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).
- Sokoni CH (2008). Commercialisation of Smallholder Production in Tanzania: implications to sustainable resource management. Geogr. J. 174(2): 158-161.
- Strasberg PJ, Jayne TS, Yamano T, Nyoro J, Karanja D, Strauss J (1999). Effects of Agricultural Commercialisation on Food Crop Input Use and Productivity in Kenya. Office of Sustainable Development; Policy Synthesis for USAID-Africa Bureau. p. 41.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT) (1997). Agricultural and Livestock Policy of 1997. Ministry of Agriculture and Cooperative Development.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT) (2006). National Sample Census of Agriculture 2002/03; Statistics Unit Ministry of Agriculture, Food Security and Cooperatives.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT) (2007). Iringa Region Socio-Economic Profile.

 National Bureau of Statistics (NBS) and Iringa Regional Commissioner's Office.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT) (2008). Agricultural Marketing Policy. Ministry of Industry, Trade and Marketing.
- United Republic of Tanzania (URT) (2009). Investment Potential and Opportunities in Agriculture (Crop Sub-Sector). Ministry of Agriculture, Food Security and Cooperatives.
- Uyole Agricultural Research Centre (UARC) (1990). *Kilimo Bora cha Viazi Mviringo*. Extension Leaflet No. 49. *Shirika la Kilimo Uyole*, Mbeya, Tanzania.
- von Braun J, Kennedy E (eds) (1994). Agricultural Commercialization, Economic Development, and Nutrition. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore and London. pp.11-33.
- Wolter D (2008). Tanzania Why a Potential Food Exporter is still Importing Food. OECD Development Centre, Paris. www.oecd.org. Site visited on 29/07/2010.
- World Bank (2009). Gender in agriculture sourcebook. The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/The World Bank, Washington DC, USA.